THE PROPHET!

A
FULL AND ACCURATE REPORT

JUDICIAL PROCEEDINGS
EXTRAORDINARY AND ;HGEEI.Y INTERESTING CASE

lias

MATTHEWS, «

E f :

CHARGED WITH HAVING

JMr. P, i,

Swaindl

OUT OF CONSIDERABLE PROPERTY:

WITH TIE

Speeehes of Counsel, and Opinion of the Court on the motion of the Duistrict
Attorney, that a Nolle Prosequi be cntered in the Case.

Folger,

ALSO,

@A Stetch of the Xmpostor’'s Ehavacter,

And a detailed History of his Career as a “ Prophet,”’ together with many other Particulars, which
have not hitherto been published.

BY W. E. DRAKE, CONGRESSIONAL AND LAW REPORTER.

NBW-YORK : PRINTED AND PUBLISHED BY W. MITCHELL, 200 BOWERY,
And may be had of him, and all the Booksellers. |

Lo 1834.

e i . S S——
B A

Price Sixy Cends.




: ,
BT T
L Ll | -
" v .FI'I‘ el
| Lt Seeale L
FWNEL
b .-:1' .'...,' 1.'117"'- e 4_:;

- . oy ﬂ‘: i Hq_ ."'-.ﬁ r-f :
. e i .1#" Ty

i b ..*:-A' 'u.'.-{'.'i-!k. e N
ol Gk vl o

W

i s T
4 "r-"'-.';.-" o A

¥ R

l*‘ . '. ! i - . -I' (¥ r. I _..

AR
L

| " _
w1 = o b.! f'Jl- ol W E q"‘..t ' I.
0 L M PR E 200 S |
S A AR N R e

\]

=
H

- i

= ] -
a ¥ .LI.'.::‘. :n.*
i -

.:'r;- . Py e L

1 ol X
; t |
e i e
i ] iy ¥ _
iy o |
w r'\- 1 l-.“

j A 2 . .. i .. J'-.
i A 8 J -": ._-l" Lol :
& S0 % LRERT 9
#' .I I-"; t%:?: T s ﬂ i
L A T

.‘ M.I‘- ‘_‘._‘-_-;:r__ ‘- ’
|. '-"'- . b 'I k- -.I*: ';T‘ ‘.:J.‘Eﬁ‘ - k

o '
Wk

1
o




L.ﬂrrestof Mathies, alias Matthews, alias Matthias,

As many readers of the subjoined * Proceedings of the Court of Sessions,” in the cage of
this Impostor, may be unacquainted with his singular manners and habits, we shall first lay
before them a few particulars, which may not prove uninteresting ; and then proceed to give a
more perfect and detailed history of his career as a ¢ Prophet,” and the circumstances which
led to his apprehension, than have yet been presented to the public.

““ The real name of this worthy,” says an Albany paper, *‘is Robert Mathies, not Matthias
He commenced his career as a religious Impostor at Albany, about five years ago. He
eame to Albany from Washington County with his family, and worked as a journeyman
house joiner. During a period of religious excitementin the church of the Rev. Mr. E
he took an active part, and applied for admission into the church, by certificate from
Washington County, but was refused. He applied a second time, and was again refused.
He then commenced preaching in the shep—proclaimed his divine mission—and was dis-
charged by his employer. ~Subsequently to this, he strayed off with his children—was
overtaken in Rensellaer, or Washington County, and supposed to be crazy. .We next hear
of him in this city, where his impostuare has been so successful as to excite amazement,
and the deeds imputed to him fill the mind with horror. No doubt, however, that greatly
exaggerated statements are in circulation. “ Mr. Folger, whose name so often appears in the
statement,” says the editor of the New York Commercial Advertiser, *“ we have known from
his boyhood——is a most amiable and excellent man. True, he has been under an awfu]
delusion, but we nevertheless believe him to be a good man.”——Mathies is forty-six years

g age—in height, 5 feet, 9 or 10,! of very slight make, and sallow complexion; and

wears moustaches and a long beard. He has a great profusion of hair, which he
seems to be not a little proud of, as he is constantly brushing and putting it in order. Itis
combed back from the forehead and temples, and so arranged as to hang far over his coat
collar and behind his ears, in no small quantity. He carries a hair brush in his pocket, and
when he has the good fortune to meet with a looking-glass, proceeds to beautify himself, When

asked why he wore a beard, and did not get his hair cut, he has replied, *‘ Because God never
intended that it should be, or He would not have given it to man. All men ought to wear their

beards~—they are Devils,” [a very favorite expression of his] ¢ if they do not.” He would
then go into a long and rambling argument, or dissertation, for the purpose of convincing his
hearer, quoting the example of the Apostles and Patriarehs in proof of his assertions.

Mathies wore remarkably long finger nails; for he never cut them, and would urge the
same kind of argument in defence of them as in regard to the beard. He was very particular

and singular in regard to his diet, and ate but sparingly. He never touched flesh meat, and
gave as a reason why he did not—that it was unfit to eat, unless killed by aJew ! His prmcx-
pal food was fish, eggs, and fruit puddings and pies. He drank coffee, milk, and beer,
and entertained the greatest abhorrence of spiriluous liquors of every description. In his
habits he was extremely regular. His conversational powers were very indifferent, though
he was exceedingly fond of entering into what he would call an argument, on common-
place topics, into which he never failed to introduce the subject of religion, and to
illustrate his discourse by passages from Scripture. He was undoubtedly fond of hearing
himself talk ; but he could not tolerate fora moment, any attempt on the part of his opponent
to dispute his position. Bnt if it was insisted upon, then he, ‘“The Prophet of the God of the
Jews” would rise from his chair, exhibiting at the same time, much ferocity of manner, scorn,
and mdlgnatmn-—saymg to the individual, * You are a Devil ! you cannot talk with me ;* and
then would make his exit, amid the laughter and ridicule of the bystanders. He conceived
the most sovereign contempt for clergymen of every denomination, and spoke of them with
detestation. Mathies wore a cap, a green, and sometimes a brown-colored frock coat, with a
straight collar ; also a red regimental sash round his waist, and almost always carried an
umbrella.—The Portrait on our first page is an accurate one,and represents him as he usually
appeared in the streets of this city, (except that he had his head covered,) prior to Septembei'
iast.—JFe has a wife and eight chﬂdren,['ﬂrho, until recently, raslded at Albany ; but they hava

been abandoned by him upwards of four years.
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“This notorious individual was arrested in Albany, on Monday afternoon, (21st Sept.)
upon the authority of an advertisement issued by Mr. Benjamin H. Folger of the city of l\?e
York. The expressed charge against him was, that he had left New York having in his
possession a large amount.of  Mr. Folger’s property ; but he has been guilty, it is asserted, of
many other malpractices, some of them of the blackest character, and worthy of the most
severe punishment.

' “Mathies commenced his career of fanaticism some two or three years since, in Albany,
‘when ‘he proclaimed himself *“T'he Prophet of the God of the Jews,” and asserted divine
power. He shortly afterwards went to New-York, where he continued to proclaim his
doctrines, but with little success at first. He soon, however, socured the favour,among a few
others of less consequence, of three of the most wealthy and respectable merchants of Pearl-
street—Messrs. Pierson, Mills, and Folger. These gentlemen received his doctrines in the
fullest confidence, and believed him to be all that he declared himself. Their treasures were
thrown open to the Impostor, and he lavished them upon himself most profusely. He purchased
the most costly wardrobe. His robes of office were richly trimmed with gold and silyer. He
wore a sword of the finest workmanship, and his gold watch and establishment equalled the
lastre of the most costly. |
% The bondage of these gontlemen was complete : and the fact that three intelligent citizens
of New York were thus deluded, will form one of the darkest pages in the whole chapter of
modern fanaticism ; but the chain with which they were bound is broken.—The following. is
a detail ofthe occurrences which caused it, and which exhibits perhaps one of the most extra-
ordinary instances of imposture on the one side, and delusion on the other, that has ever been
‘made publie.

' *“For a considerable period prior tothe year 1832, Mr. Benjamin Folger, of this city, was on
terms of the most intimate friendship with a Mr. Elijah Pierson, also of this city, whose
piety and good sense he highly respected and esteemed. A short time previous to the period
adverted to, Mathies had announced to Mr. Pierson, that he (Mathies) * was the Spirit of
“Frath, that the Spirit of Trath had disappeared from the earth at the death of the Matthias
mentioned in the New Testament; that the spirit of Jesus Christ had entered into that
Matthias, and that he (the fellow then in Albany Prison) was the same]Matthias, the apostle of
the New Testament, who had risen from the dead and possessed the spirit of Jesus of Nazareth.
‘That he (Jesus Christ) at his second appearance, was God the Father, and that he (Mathies)
was himself God the Father, and had power to do all things—to forgive sins and communicate
the Holy Ghest to sach as believed in him.” | |

% The above tissue of blasphemy and absurdity was, strange to say, believed by Mr. Pierson;
and, regarding Mathies as the character he represented himself, he respected him accordingly,
and took him into his house to reside with him. |
~¢In the month of September, 1832, Mr. Pierson introduced Mr. Folger to Mr. Mathies, and
at the same time informed him, who and what Mathies announced himsclf to be, and also of
his (Pierson’s) implicit belief in the truth of Mathies' divine attributes. Mathies having thus
become acquainted with Mr. Folger, lost no time in endeavouring to increase the number of
his dupes, and repeatedly called at Mr, Folger’s counting-house to announce his divine
mission, and strove to convert Mr. Folger to a belief of it. On one occasion he said to Mr.
Folger, “I know the end of all things,”” and then made uso of the following mode of illustrg-
ting his assertion. Taking up a piece of paper, he placed it in a drawer, so that one end of
the paper remained outside the drawer, and then said to Mr. Folger, “ You can see but one
end of the paper, which is outside the drawer, and so the world sees ; but I see the whole
length of it—-I see the end.” f,

#He succeeded in impressing Mr. Folger, and a few others, with a firm belief that he was the
Prophet he pretended to be,and having gained this point, he then began to execute the trae
mission he came upon, and informed Mr. Folger that ‘“ he was very poor and in want of
money ; that the world persecuted him, and it was instigated to do so by the devil, because
there was no truth now in the world except in him (Mathies.)”

‘4¢Puerile and absurd as were these representations, they nevertheless induced Mr. Felger to
give Mathies different sums of money,—and the latter, encouraged by his success thus far,
determined 'to spare neither promises nor threats to make the best of the advantage he had
gained. In addition to what he had already told Mr. Folger, he therefore informed him
that he (Mathies) had commencad the reign of God on earth ; that Mills and Pierson had been
called into the kingdom, and although the devil had succeeded in suspending for a time its
permanent establishment, he (Mathies) would now go on to overcome the devil and to esta-
blish the kingdom of God. Under these circumstances he called on Mr. Folger to contribute
of his substance for his (Mathies) support, and the promotion of the kingdom, and threatened
that in case he should refuse to provide him whatever money he wanted, he would visit upon
him, (which he was empowered to do,) the wrath of the Almighty, but that if he (Folger)
would believe in him and obey him in all things, he should be called into the kingdom, and
he (Mathies) would forgive him all his sins, and he would enjoy eternal happiness.

“ In this style Mathies continued preaching, until by dint of downright impudence he con-
verted, or rather perverted, Mr Folger to the firm belief that he was the personage he
represented himself to be.

““In the month of August, 1833, Mathies went to Sing Sing, in West Cheeter eounty, where
Mr. Polger had a furnished house, and where his family at that time rosided. As Mathies
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prought his baggage along with him, his intention of paying a long visit to Sing Sing was
pretty obvious, and Mr. Felger invited him to take up his residence at his house. Having
remained there a week, he got tired of such narrow accommodations, and told Mr. Folger
that he and Pierson ought to hire a house for his own special use. Mr. Folger consulted Mr.
Pierson on the subject, and they agreed to comply with the very reasonable request of Mathies,
and so informed him. In the mean time the ambition of Mathies had so increased, that a
hired house would no longer content him, and he intimated to his two friends that it would be
improper for a person of his character to reside in a hired house, and that they ought to
purchase a house for him. This also Messrs. Folger and Pierson agreed to; but before they
could accomplish their purpose, Mathies imparted another revelation to Mr. Folger, and
informed him that the house which Mr. Folger purchased some time previous at Sing Sing, and
in which he then resided, had been purchased for him, Mathies, and that the Spirit of Truth
had directed Mr. Folger in making the said purchase.

“ Ag the house had thus been miraculously purchased for Mathies, he had of course a clear
right to remain in it, and he did remain in it without further ceremony until October, 1833,
when he required that Messrs. Folger and Pierson, who then resided with him should give up
the house to his own charge, which they accordingly did.

““ In the latter part of October, 1833, he required them to give an account of their property,
and having obtained it, he demanded that they should both enter into an agreement to support
him, which would ensure them the continued blessing of God. They accordingly entered into
the required agreement and supported him, and supplied him with whatever money he demand-
ed, until the - month of August, when Mr. Pierson departed this life. He died in Westchester
county, at his country seat, near Sing Sing, and the event is clothed in mystery. A short time
previous to his death, and while in health, as we understand, Mathies prevailed upon Mr. P.
to assign to him his whole estate. He was shortly after taken sick, and, although his friends
who were with him insisted upon calling medical aid, they were deterred by Mathies, who
told them that ‘* he had power of life and death, and Mr. Pierson would not die I"” But he
did die ; and a subsequent examination of his body, by three able Physicians, resulted in the
conviction that he had been poisoned, and certificates to this effect were drawn up and
signed by these physicians, and are now in New-York. Who poisoned Mr. Pierson is to be
determined by the proper tribunal. '

““ Mr. Mills, under the strange delusion, became a lunatic. His friends removed him to the
country, and from the society of Mathies, and his reason soon returned.—He is now convinced
of his error, and has abandoned the delusion. |

“ On the death, however, of Mr. Pierson, Mathies came to reside at Mr. Folger’s house in
this city, and continued to be supplied with money by him, until last March, when Mr. Folger
unfortunately became bankrupt. Notwithstanding this occurrence, Mathies continued to
reside with Mr. Folger, until last September, when the latter intimated to him, that he could
no longer continueto support him, and that they then must part. Mathies by no means liked
the proposed arrangement, but being determined to make the most of the matter, and knowing
that Mr. Folger had some money belonging to the estate of his wife, he told him very perempto.
rily that ¢¢ he must not throw him destitute om the world, that if he did so the blessing of God
would depart from him, but that if he gave him money to support him, the blessing of God
should continue to him.”’ Mr. Folger then gave him one hundred dollars in bills of the Bank
of the United States. Mathies received this money a few days priorto the 18th of September,
and on that day he told Mr. Folger that he was about to leave his house, but insisted on being
supplied with more money before he took his departure. Inorder to obtain it, he had recourse
to his old expedient of threatening and promising the wrath or blessing of God, according as
his demand was refused or complied with, and so wrought on Mr. Folger, that in addition to
the hundred dollars he had already given him in bills, he now gave Mathies five hundred and
thirty dollars in gold coin; on receiving which he left Mr. Folger’s house, and immediatel
after departed from this city. Besides the above mentioned sums of money, and those whic
ho obtained at different other periods, from Messrs, Folger and Pierson, he also obtained a
watch from the latter gentleman, and in the month of January last he informed Mr. Folger
that some person had taken the wateh from him, and that * it was Mr. Folger’s duty to provide
him with another, and that the blessing of God would rest upon him if he did €0.” Mr.
Folger immediately purchased a fine gold watch, with a chain and seal, for which he gave one
hundred and fifteen dollars, and gave it to Mathies.

“Soon after, Mathies left this city. The mysterious death of Mr. Pierson, and the accom-
panyiag circumstances, shook the confidence,of Mr. Folger and his family, and they resolved
to abandon Mathies and his principles. After his return to New-York, they announced their
determination to the ¢ Prophet,” who then declared to them that if they did, * sickness, and
perhaps death, would follow I’ This threat was not sufficient to overthow their resolution, and
a day was fixed upon when Mathies should leave the house. Upon the morning of that day,
Mathies partook of but very little breakfast, and scarcely tasted the coffec, saying, as an
excuse, that he was not well. Immediately after breakfast, Mr. Folger, his wife, and children,
were taken violently sick. Mr. Folger did not suspect the cause of the sickness until after the
villain had left the city, when upon examination, he learned that the black woman who did
the cooking for the family, had also abstained from the use of any coffee upon that morning,
and, from other circumstances, he became confirmed that the woman was bribed by Mathies to
peison the family.~From some cause, the effort was not successful. To none ofthe family
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did it prove fatal, although all of them have not yet recovered from its effects. Mathies left
the city, but where he had gone was not known. |
. “Mr. Folger, in consequence of this transaction, more particularly, offered a reward for his
apprehensien, and the pretended prophet was arrested and committed to prison at A bany,

“ Mathies did not expect thus suddenly to be stopped in his mad career, and expressed a
good deal of surprise when arrested. IHe had in his possession two large trunks, which he
ackowledged contained rticles that did belong to Mr Folger, but which, he said, Mr, F.
gave to him when he left New York. Among the articles were sundry rich dresses, and $600
in gold, besides a small amount of bank bills, which were found under the lining of his boot ; a
gold watch worth about $150, a sword of great value, a massive golden key (six or eight
inches in length,) with which he intended to unlock the gates of Heaven; and a rod with
which he was going to measure the bounds of his paradise, * the gates thereof, and the walls
_thereof.”—It is said that he wore a black velvet night cap, made in the form of a mitre,
which was richly decorated with gold, and had on it the inscription, *“Jesus Maithias.”

The Prophet was brought down to New York in the Steamboat Champion.,

L

Examination of Mathies,

Mathies was examined on the 1st October, at the Upper Police, before Justice Wyman. N. N.
Hall, Esq. acted as the'prisoner’s Counsel. The “ Prophet” seemed’to be extremely subdued in
spirit, and answered the questions put to him in a mild, low tone of voice. The following
were the questions put to him,and his answers,
~ Question. What is you name, age, and place of birth ?

Answer. My name is Matthias, which is the name I inheritéd from my father. I am forty-
six years of age, and was born at Cambridge, in Washington county, State of New York.

Q. Where is your place of residence, and what is your occupation, profession, or calling ?

A. TIam a traveller. Zion Hill is my legal home. 1am a Jewish teacher—priest of the
Most High-—preaching, saying, and doing all that I do, under oath, by virtue of my having
subscribed to all the covenants that God has made unto man, from the beginning up to this
time ;—chief high priest of the Jews, after the order of Melchisedek, being the last chosen of
\the apostles, and the first of the resurrection, which is at the end of 2300 years after the
building of Jerusalem by Cyrus, and 1260 after the birth of Mahomet, which terminated in
1830,—that being the summit of the power of the false prophet. I am now denouncing a
judgment on the Gentiles, and that judgment is to be executed in this age. All the blood from
Zechariah till the death of the last witness, is required of this generation, and béfore this
generation passeth away, this judgment shall be executed. Iam myself the Spirit of Truth,
and I declare these things, and that the hour of God’s judgment is come.

Q. Did you endeavor to impress the mind of Mr. Folger with the truth of what you have
~ stated in your last answer ?

“A. In my general character of preacher, I endeavored to impress all men with the impor-
tance of what I have stated in my last answer; but not more in relation to Mr. Folger than
to any other person.

Q. Did you ever tell Mr. Folger that you possessed the power of life and death, the remis-
sion of sins, and the salvation of souls ; and that if he believed in you, he would be saved, but
if he would not, that he would be damned ? |

A. In my character of preacher, I say that my person’is a trumpet for the Spirit of Truth to
speak by, and that this spirit, by this frumpet, declares that every person must believe in this
said spirit of truth, and practice obedience, as did Jesus of Nazareth ; and this obedience will
secure eternal life. My general declaration was, that if they believed in the Spirit of Truth,
they would be saved, and if not, they would be damned." To the question at large, I answer,
No ; but I said to all, that they must practice obedience in all the branches of the Spirit of
Trath, as it diectates to themselves and those things around them. |
" Q. 'Did you ever receive any money or property from Mr, Folger, and if so, how much,
and of what description ? |

A. Inall my preaching, and especially to strangers, I have always declared that 1 could
receive nothing from them asif tlieir property, but that if they felt as though they had in their
possession property which they believed belonged to God, and if they believed that I was the
servant of God, then they could give me of that property whatever they pleased ; and I have
never received any property or money from any person in any other way, since 1 commenced
preaching the everlasting gospel. Mr. Folger, Mr. Pierson, and Mr. M. frequently declared
to me that they believed I was the Father, and that I was qualified to establish God’s Kingdom
upon earth, and that Zion Hill was transferred to me ; with all the appurtenances thereunto
belonging, for that purpose,—including horses, carriages, and furniture, of the house No. 8
Third-street, in the city of New York. And it was also agreed that the house and lot No.8
Third-street, should be conveyed to me; and Mr. Pierson directed a deed to be made out
accordingly, but died before it was completed. A bill in Chancery was afterwards filed
against me, and a ne exeat obtained, by which it appeared that I must give security in the
sum of ten thousand dollars ; and I consented torescind the contract and restore the property,
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which I did, &8 I then believed I was obliged to do so; but I still elaim the property as my

own, for the purposes for which it was originally given: that is to say, for the purpose of

establishing God’s Kingdom on earth, and that that was thé beginning. B Sk
Did you ever reside in Mr. Folger’s family ? . |

A. I was there a short time previous to the transfer of the property above mentioned. Mr
- Folger said to me *“ When you feel disposed, come to my house and make it your home ;"

and as near as I can recollect, this invitation was given in June or July, 1833, at his office in
Pearl street. * | - ~- |

Q. Did you, a short time previous to leaving his house, receive from him, or from any
member of his family, any number of eagles, and if so how many ?

A. Ihave received from Mr. Folger, at different times, gold, in exchange for Bank notes
of my own, and I believe that about eight hundred dollars were in gold of different coins.
Some of it was in quarter, and some of it in half eagles ; and the whole amount that I have
received from Mr. Folger and Mr. Pierson, including a bond and mortgage to secure to Mrs.
Folger the sum of about $5000 of her own seperate estate,—is about $10,000, which I have
paid at different times, in furnishing the establishment at Zion Hill and at No. 8 Third-street,
for which Mr. Folger has the bills in his possession. In commencing the establishment at
Zion Hill, and also the establishment in Third street, many transactions took place in money,
between Mr. Folger, Mr. Pierson, and myself, in which we frequently accommodated each
other, as occasion required, and in all these transactions I acted as the Father, in good faith
in the sense above mentioned, and I continued to expend monev for those establishments
until the very day I left Mr. Folger’s house. As to the five $20 bills mentioned in Mr. Folger’s
affidavit, I believe it is a mistake; as I have no recollection of having received that sum in
bills of that denomination, but have received from him different sums at different times, and

at one time in particular, I received the amount of twenty-seven hundred dollars.
The prisoner,was then committed.

—

We have, in the preceding pages, called the “ Prophet” Mathies, not Matthias, taking it
for granted, that the Albany papers were much more likely to be correct in their statement
than these of New-York, as this worthy was better known there. Perceiving however,
that he has been indicted under the name of “ Matthias ;> we shall, of course, so' designate
him in the remainder of this Pamphlet, though we have been credibly informed since the
previous pages were printed, that his real name is *“ Matthews.” i

COURT OF SESSIONS. ;
.Thmsday, October 16, 1834. G

Robert Matthias was arraigned this day on an Indictment, charging him with having on
the 18th December last, defrauded Benjemin H. Folger, of this City, out of various sums of
money: [See Indictment in one of the following pages]. b B

Mr. Wesrery, of Counsel for the prisoner, then rose and said : ‘“If the Court please, I
have been employed as his Counsel, although I cannot-~I do not intend to advocate a.ny of
the polemics of that gentleman. He is entitled, however, as an American artizan, as a
human being, indeed, to a fair and impartial trial. If I were to proceed in my own legal
course in regard to the indictment, 1 should demur to it, because I do not beliove there is any
allegation, that the representations were such as to impose upon a man of ordinary prudence.
Upon presenting that sense of my legal duty te my client, I would now state, that he expressed
his unwillingness to permit that course to be taken, which amounts to an ackrnowledgment of
guilt. He says, the allegations in the indictment are substantially untrue _in every part.tHe cannot
consent that a demurrer shall be putin, as it would bet a concession of the truth of the
charges made against him. Hence, he prefers pleading in chief; hence the pleas is——the
“ General Issue.” Heis ready for trial,

The Court said: To-morrow is the last day of term. The demurrer will come up in arrest
of judgment. ~ :

The Disvricr ATTorNEY observed: The great diffieulty is, whether the case is indictable
at all.

Mz. WesTern: If he can be admitted to bail, upon an inconsiderable amount, there will
be no objection on the partof Matthias to take his trial at the nextsessions. But, .if' he has to
lie in prison, it isa difficulty——— If, however, your Honor will say what bail you ask,
then=——-



8-

The DrsTrict Arrorney intimated that Mrs. Folger was not in good health—that she was
‘“in that state in which ladies wish to be who love their lords.” By consent, however, her
examination might be taken.

- Mr. WesTery : Yes.

The DisTricT ArTorsEY: I canmot say whether the other parties concerned would be willing
that bail should be given, for there is now a warrant from Westchester County against
Matthias on a more serious charge there ;—and, if bailed here, he would have to be sent to
Westchester.
~ Mgr. WEsTeERN : That we did not know.

The Districr AtTorNEY: It isan attempt to poison.

Mg. Justice Lownpes: As accessory to the death of Mr. Pierson,

Mg. WesTERN: Then we will consider the trial as put off for this month—as going over to
the next term. Itis a most important matter, and to be in too much haste, would be unkind
towards him.

The Trial was accordingly postponed until the next term, and Matthias was remanded
to prison.

The Prophet was dressed in a brown camlet cloak, (which is said to have cost an enormous.
sum,) with a gilt clasp, a handsome green frock coat, black pantaloons, figured vest, grey
stockings, and pumps. Hisbeard, of a dark grey color, was about four inches in length only,
being much shorter than it was three months ago, for he had then the misfortune to fall in
with some * devils,” as he would designate them ; in the neighbourhood of Sing Sing, who
took it into their wicked heads to have a * frolie” with him, and make him submit to their
unhallowed purpose of clipping his beard. The poor Prophet was, as may be supposed, greatly
exasperated at such barber-ous treatment, and particularly mortified at having lost what he
considered the greatest ornament of his person, and one of the most distinguishing ensigns
of his divinity. -, |

His appearance in Court excited much curiosity, and he was quite social with those who
gathered around to converse with him. There was no betrayal of fear manifested by him,
for the result of the investigation into the serious charges which have been preferred against
himn. He was in good health and spirits, and looked forward to an immediate acquittal.

BLANKETING THE PROPHET.

On Friday, the 17th of October, the eompanions of Matthias, in the prison at Bellvue,
suspecting the Prophet had money in his possession, madé an attempt to blanket him. The
Prophet threatened them with eternaltorment, if they proceeded. They assured him that
he must submit, as it was an ordeal through which all of them had to pass, and he was no
better than the rest of them. "They then put him into a blanket, several of them heclding
the corners of it, and gave him two or three tosses, The poor Prophet, finding that they
were determined to carry their threat into furthér eperation, agreed to pay them 25 cents
apiece to let him off. After they had liberated him, he deeclared that he believed he had
been ¢ thrown into a den of thieves!” ;

Anecdote of Matthias.—~The Prophet was staying at a certain Hotel in this city, about 16
months ago, where a gentleman of the name of F., was also sojourning. He had been but
a few days in the house, when he was one morning very familiarly and abruptly accosted
by Matthias, with whom he had not heretofore exchanged a syllable. ¢ Mr. I’ gaid he,
‘‘ how long do you think I have been upon this earth?” ¢Indeed, I have no idea, Sir,”
was the reply. ¢ Well, I will tell you,” rejoined the Prophet, “ why, more than eightéen
hundred years!” Mr FI. it may be imagined, was mueh surprised at 50 extraerdinary an
annunciation, and after scanning him from top to toe, involuntarily exclaimed, *The devil
you have; you don’t tellme so !!” “I1do,” observed the other. ‘‘ Then, all I have to say is,
that you are a remarkably good looking fellow for yourage "’ Matthias put on a satanic grin-—
was very indignant, and said angrily, “ You are a devil, Sir;” and then walked off.”
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COURY OF SESSTONS:.

Fripay, OcToBER 8, 1834.

Before His Honor the Recorder,rand Aldermen Cornell and Ferris.

Immediately after the opening of the Court, Robert{ Matthias was ushered into
the Court Room, and placed near the door of the Grand Jury’s chamber. He was
dressed 1in an clegant brown cloth cloak, lined with silk ; a green cloth frock coat
of the finest cloth, lined with pink silk, with a silver sun on the left, and silver stars
on his right breast ; pointed lace rufiles to the wristbands of his shirt, a handsome
buff vest, fine brown cloth pantaloons, and a beautiful crimson-colored s.ash about his
waist. His beard, which had been suffered to grow on his chin and upper hp, was of
a mixture of black and white, and about two inches inlength. He appeared perfectly
composed. and talked freely with those around him, unawed by the circumstances
in which he was placed.

Shortly after the entrance of the District Attorney into Court, he rose and en-
quired of the Court, what course they intended to pursue, in regard to the case of
Matthias ? and observed, at the same time, that he entertained doubts of the validity
of the Indictment.

Mgzr. Wesrern, of Counsel for the prisoner, rose and addressed the Court to

the following eflect:
It 1s due to this man, that he should know what the nature of the evidence

against him 1s, and in what shape it is to be presented, particularly as the commu-
nity entertain very mistaken, very erroneous, very unjust ideas in regard to him.
Although I am perfectly aware that he is here to answer to this Indictment, I
also know, that there isa charge of a maore serious character against hini in a sister
County, and, therefore, it is but fair that he should have an impartial and patient
hearing, at least, in that case. Now, judging from the existing state of feeling in
this community, he can hardly expect to have a fair trial in the mose sericus charge
of ‘““murder’ alleged against him, whilst he is viewed by this moral cominunity as
a religious impostor of the worst kind I therefore owe it to that wan’s safety—I
owe it to the due administration of justice in this country—I owe 1t to myself as a
fearless and independent advocate—to use all the means within my reach and
power, to give him a fair and impartial trial, (and I hardly think that he can have
1t elsewhere unless tried here)—to the end that the community uay see who is
really the corrupt individual, the prosecutor, or the party prosecuted. -We waive
our right to demur, and we prefer going to the facts; in the imperative language of
' the Revised Statutes, we °“ demand a trial,”” in order that the community may have
an opportunity of judging of the truth or falsehood of the charges imputed to
Matthias. Under these circumstances, as his Counsel, I now state that it is highly
expedient an investigation should be entered into, to the fullest extent, and that
explanations of the whole maftter should be given, for the purpose of putting it on
the proper grounds, and, at least, undeceiving the community and rendering them
impartial betwixt him and his prosecutors.

The District ArTTOorRNEY explained. He supposed, although the learned
Counsel might waive his right to demur, he could not, by any wish of his own, com-
Fel him (the District Attorney) to proceed to trial—he had laid all the facts of which

1e was possessed before the Grand Jury, to whom he took occasion to express his
doubts as to whether an indictment could be founded upon them, butthey had seen fit
to findone. Inlaying the testimony he did before the Grand Jury, it was in order that
Matthias might have the benéfit of it—that it might throw some light on the matter, -
and also, to show whether he (the District Attorney) was wrong in the expression

of his doubts as to its being an indictable offence. The indictment, he was willing

to admit, was as correctly drawn as it could be, under all the circumstances of the
case—looking to the facts which had already been given, and the testimony which

might be expected to be adduced.

Mr. Westerxn ; I fully concede that this is the best—the very best Indictment
that could have been drawn under such circumstances. We do not take any ob-
jection to 1t m any point of form. It 1s as good an indictment as the subject matter
alleged against my client will admit of, or that can be drawn under the present
state of things. On the subject of the demurrer, I here say as a lawyer, that had [
been left to my own volition, I'should have rested the case on the legal ground of
its being untenable, and that it must be quashed. I went to the individual, and
told him that bﬁ raising the question on demurrer, a stop might be put to all further
proceedings. He then inquired of me, what was the meaning of the term * Demur-

2
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ver,”’ for he seemed to think that it admitted the truth of the allegations made
against him in this indictment,—the truth of which he totally denied, and insisted
on being tried. ke forbids meto demur to the indictment, and wishes his guilt or
innocence left to a jury of his country. I perceive that the District Attorney
chooses to raise the question himself, and I do not now see how I can further meet
it ; if he will not prosecute, I cannot defend ; and here, from necessity, the case must
end.

The DisTricT ArTrorRNEY said, he had no doubt, as the learned Counsel had
observed, that the Indictment was as good a one as could be drawn under the
circumstances. The Court were aware of three things which it was necessary for
the public prosecutor to prove ; the one was, whether the pretences were false, as
made use of by the party charged. 'The second thing was—were the pretences
credited? The third ; that the pretences were of such a character as would 1mpose
upon a man of ordinary prudence and understanding ; and, fourthly, the most
material point was—thatit must be proved that those pretences were false. [Here
the learned Gentleman read the averments in the Indictment ; but asthat document
is a curiosity in itself, we shall publish it in extenso.] "

 City and County of
New York,

T HE Jurors of the people of the State of New York, in and for the body of the City and County of
New York, upon their oath present: That ROBERT MMATTHIAT, late of the 11th Ward of the
City of New York, in the county of New York aforesaid, being a person of an evil disposition, ill name
and fame, and of dishonest conversation, and devising, and intending, by unlawful ways and means, to
obtain and getinto his hands and possession, the moneys, goods, chattels and effects, ot the honest and
good people of the State of New York, to maintain his idle and profligate course of life. On the 18th
day of September, in the year of our Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty-four, at the Eleventh
‘Ward of the City of New York, in the County of New York, aforesaid, with force and arms, on the
day and year last aforesaid, at the Ward, City and County last aforesaid, with intent feloniously to
cheat and defraud one BENJAMIN H. FOLGER. did then and there feloniously, unlawfully,
knowingly, and designedly, falsely pretend and represent to the said Benjamin H. Folger, that he, the
said Robert Matthias, was God the Father, and that he was the Spirit of ['ruth, and that he had power
to do all things, to forgive sius, and to communicate the Holy Ghost to such as believed in him, and
that he must not be thrown upon the world destitute, that if he was, he, the said Benjamin H. Folger,
would not have the blessing of God; but, thatif he provided for the support of him, the said Robert
Matthias, by providing him with money, he, the said Benjamin H. Folger, would have God’s blessing ;
aud that by supplying him, the said Robert Matthias, with money, God’s blessing would rest upon him,
the said Benjamin 1. Folger. and his family; and that he, the said Robert Matthias, possessed the
Spirit of Jesus of Nazareth. And the said Benjamin H. Folger, then and there, believing the said
false pretence and representation so made as aforesaid, by the said Robert Matthias, and being deceived
“ thereby, was induced, by reason of the false pretence and representations sp made as aforesaid, to de-
liver, and did then and there deliver to the said Rcbert Matthias, one hundred pieees of gold coin of the
value of five dollars.and thirty cents each, five promissory notes, ecommonly called bank notes, for the
payment of twenty dollars each, then and there being due and unsatisfied of the proper moneys, goods,
chattels and effects of the said Benjamin H. Folger, and the said Robert Matthias did then and there
receive and obtain the said mﬂne%" of the said Benjamin H. Folger, of the proper moneys, chattels, and
effects of the said Benjamin H. Folger, by means of the false pretence and representation aforesaid, and
with intent feloniously to cheat and defraud the said Benjamin H. Folger of the said money.

W hereas, in truth and in fact, the said ROBERT MATTHIAS was not God the Father, and
whereas in fact and in truth he was not the Spirit of T'ruth, and he had not the power to do all things,
and forgive sins, and to communicate the Holy Ghost to such as believed on him; and whereas in
truth and in fact, he did not possess the Spirit of Jesus of Nazareth. And whereasin fact and in truth
the pretence and representations so made as aforesaid, by the said Robert Matthias to the said Benjaniin
H. E‘Dlger, wag, and were. in all respects, utterly false and untrue, to wit. on the day and year last
aforesaid, at the Ward, City, and County aforesaid. And whereas in fact and in truth the said Robert
Matthias well knew the said pretegce and representation so by him made as aforesaid to the said
Benjamin L. Folger, to be UTTERLY FALSE AND UNTRUE at the time of making the same.

And so the Jurors aforesaid, wpon their oath aforesaid, do say, 'T'HA'T the said Robert Matthias,
by means of the false pretence aforesaid. on the said eighteenth day of September, in the year of our
Lord one thousand eight hundred and thirty-four, aforesaid, at the Eleventh Ward of the City of New
York, in the County of New York, aforesaid, unlawfully. falsely, knowingly, and designedly, did
yeceive from the said Benjamin H. Folger of the said money of the proper moneys, goods, chattels, and
effects of the said Benjamin H. Folger, with intention feloniousiy to defraud him of the same, against
the form of the Statute in such case made and provided, and against the Peace of the People of the State

of New Yark, and their dignity.
HOFEFMAN, District Attorney.

The DistricT ArTorRNEY resumed: Now, supposing he could prove that these
representations were made, in the first place ;—and secondly, that Mr, Folger
believed them, were they such representations as were calculated to impose upon
a man of ordinary prudence and understanding ¢ But, supposing that difficulty
was got over in regard to the representations and credit given to them ; he, (the
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District Attorney), was called upon to prove them false. And he warited to khow
by what testimony a single averment in the Indictment could be falsified. Could
it be proved that he was not God the Father? Could it be proved that he was not
the Spirit of Truth? Things might be averred which might not be believed ; the
majority of the community knew them to be false ; but where was the testimony
upon which the Court was to rely, that there was no truth in the declarations of thie
accused ? Proof was required to establish justice ; but the moment the jury heard
the allegations, testimony was not required. As to the pretence—it was a complete
absurdity on the face of it, and required no proof. Now, was such a pretence cal-
culated to impose upon a man of ordinary understanding? ‘These were his (the
District Attorney’s) doubts about the matter, and they were expressed by him'to
the Grand Jury before the bill was found. So far as the complainant was concerned,
he had to say that %e did not wish the case to proceed any further. [The learned
(Gentleman here read an extract of the following letter from Mr. Folger 160 R. C.
Wheeler, Esq. his Counsel : ]— |

« Dear Sir: New York, Octobeir 23, 1834.
Mr. Hoffman, as [ wunderstand you, having expressed strong doubts in regard to the

Indictment against Matthias, being sustained, and it being likewise your own, as well as that
of several other lawyers, in whose opinions I have confidence, I think it would be best to
discontinue the proceedings altogether. If you think it is proper, do so, I should think it
would be best to ask the District Attorney to dismiss the case —the offence charged upon him
not being an indictable one—and release the creature entirely. His day,—so far as passing
himself for a pure and upright man,—has passed, and there is no danger of his imposing upon
one here or elsewhere. With respect and esteem, vours,

BENJAMIN H. FOLGER.”

He then contioued : “We do not wish to stand here to ecriminate or recriminate ;*’
and having, himself, doubts ‘of the law—believing the indictment could not be
sustained, and having expressed the wish of Mr. Folger, and believing that the
inquiry would tend to make that gentleman and his family more unhappy than they
were at present, he could not proceed any further, but would move the Court to
enter a nolle prosequi.

Me. N. N. HaLr was inclined to reiterate a part only of the facts adverted to by
the learned Counsel associated with him. If this case went to trial now, there
would be such a developement of facts as would enable them, when they should
come before the tribunal m a sister county, to try another charge, to defend the
accused against the allegations set forth. He wished to put the man in a proper
light before the publie, for he was really, as he now stood, a much injured man.

Mr. WesTeERN : Of course, I acquiesce in the application as now made and as
explained ; but I must be permitted, as a matter of justice to myself and this indi-
vidual, to make a remark or two further. When called upon as Counsel in this
case, I cautioned my client that I could have no connexion with the polemical part
of the case—that the accused must answer for himself in regard to'it, but I would
pledge myself to stand forth in his defence, and see that he, as a human being, an
American citizen, and thefather of a family, should have a fair and impartial trial.
But if he had committed blasphemy, or that his doctrinies were untenable, (as I
believed they were, I could not undertake to defend nor palliate them.) The first
thing to be established on the part of the prosecutor in the Indictment, would be
that he is not God the Father., He (the accused,) would have proved that he
never represented himself to be such : the language of Jeremiah the Prophet, 15—
‘“ Thus saith the Lord,”’ and in preaching, my client insists that he used the same
language only in the same sense. He never pretended that ke was the Lord ; but
only professed to speak through the Spirit of Truth, the language of truth—that he
was a trumpet through which God spoke. So, in regard to the Spirit of Jesus
Christ, which he claimed to possess. Putting himself on the ground of a Christian
Teacher, I say he instructs me that he was prepared to prove that the doctrines
whi¢h he professed to Mr. Folger, were not those which are alleged in the Indict-
ment, but such as are based on and taken from the Scriptures. I am not disposed
to defend nor even to excuse the tenets of this man’s religion ; if they are of a blas-
phemous, or outrageous character, let it be established on his tnal, if they are
nnocent and true, why not hear him? I owe these remarks and explanations to
him ; they are due to the man for the reasons I have stated, and in order that he
may be put on a fair and impartial footing before the community.

The District ATTorNeEY then moved that a nolle prosequi be entered,

The Court said they would tuke the Indictment under advisement, and decide op
it definitely by Monday next,



12

‘The Prophet’s wife, in company with two other ladies, was in Court; and he
held a temporary conversation with them with apparent hilarity.

LETTER ,FROM MR. FOLGER.

On the evemng of the day on wh ich the Report of the Proceedmn’s in the Case
of Maithias was published, (October 8th,) the fullemng Letter app&’llEd in thé
¢ WNew York Commercial Advertiser —

New York, November 8, 1834.
Mazssrs. Epitors :—I am informed 'by my {riends that the notice in the morning papers of
the proceedings in Court in reference to Matthias, has led some to suppose that I have relapsed
into a belief in him and his blasphemous doctrines. . Lest it should be so supposed, will you do
me the favour to state distinctly in your paper of this evening, that I have long since renounced
‘his doctrines entirely, and believe him to be one of the most base and deee1tiul beings on earth.
This is likewise the opinion of every member of my family, and my object is now to rid myself
of him and those connected with him, with as little trouble as possible. Mr, Pierson, myself,
and family, have been deeply, very deeply deiuded, deceived, and imposed upon ; and I regret
exceedingly that the former could not have been epared to witness the deep deeeptle"l We
are sensible of ‘our error—we repent it sincerely; and although we cannot expect to recover,
at preeent, the situation we held in society previous to our aequamtanee with this vile creature,
yet, in time, we shall be able to show that we are enemies to him, and all who undertake to
sustain him in his wickedness and plans to destroy us. BENJ. I1. FOLGER.

COURT OF SESSIONS,

TUESDAY, Nov. 11.
Before his Honor the Recorder, and Aldermen Cornell and Ferris.

The DisTricT ATTORNEY rose, and stated that the Court some days since, had,
in consequence of the suggestions of ‘the Counsel who.appeared in behalf of
Matthias, taken the Indictment under advisement. He (the District Attorney,)
.would respeetfully ask the Court, whether they were now prepared to deliver

- their opinion *

The Recorper said ; The Court has deliberated maturely on the subject as to
whether you should proceed to trial now, or that it be postponed until a further
determination is had in a sister county. This morning the Court has received a
formal warrant from Dir. Yeo, a Justice of the Peace for the County of West.
chester. 'This affidavit FHis Honor then read, the substance of which is embodied

in the following paragraph :—

¢« Mrs. DRAT'CH testifies, that on the 11th of Augnst, 1834, she came from New -York, with the intention of
wvisiting Mr. Pierson, he hﬂvmq ‘been many years her pﬂrtlculﬂr friend. When she reaehed his house, she saw
Matthias, who appeared to be much excited, and told herthat Mr. Pierson was sick, and that she could not then see
him. But on repeating her request, was put off, and answered by Matthiag, that when Mr. Pierson came from the
bath, she might see him. When nuhl. came on, she was urged hy Matthias to go to bed, which she did from fear,
and Blept but little, and in the morning was tnld that Mr Pierson was dead, bur no one could tel! by what means ;
but she heard him utterseveral groans during the night, and in the morning 'when she arose, was told by Marthias
that he was dead. No person iin the house could tell how he came by his death, and she has the hmpression on her
m'nd, that Matthias h'h, Ly same means, been instrumental in his death. And havme seen the certificates of four

eepectahle Physicians, thit some unwholesome or deadly substance was found in the stomach of Pierson, she founds
her belief thereon that be has been poisoned, and therefore on this evidence the undersigned gave his warrant.

“CHARLES Y EO, Westchester County.»

The Recozprr resumed : According to the statute, it 1s rendered imperative
that when a warrant 1s issued from a nelghbemmg county, 1t must be endorsed
by the magistrate .to whom it is sent.  Accordingly, the following endorsement
appears at “the back of this warrant, “ Let this warrant be served in the city and

oounty of New York. JAMES HOPSON.”

He continucd: The Court have taken into serious and deliberate consideration
Avhat is their duty in this case. Matthias is indicted for a crime committed in
this county—alleging he 13 God, and various other things——imputing to himself
a spiritual power—a supernatural power, &c. If convicted of that offence, the pu-
nishment, of course, would be a fine and 1mprisonment not exceeding a year.
Our sister county (Westchestel) has claimed his person for the crime of Murder ;
the Court have weighed the whole subject matter, and they are of the unammeus
opinion that they euu'ht to act with becoming respect to their sister county, and
should yield him for ‘the higher offence first. And therefore, we shall not try him
for the misdemeanour first—until the Grand Jury of Westchester county have
disposed of the serious charge made against him If he is acquitted of it, 1t will be
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time enough for this Court to act ; but if he is convicted, then he will undergo the
just penalty of the law.

Mr. WesTERN sald: If your Honors please, the Court in Westchester county
sits 1n a fertnight from to.day. Now, I appeal to the Court, whether it ought
not, as an act of common fairness, to try him on the minor offence first. And I
oround my appeal to the Court upon the fact, that the public mind ought to be
disabused of the prejudice and erroneous opinions which have been formed in
regard to the professions, and pretensions, and views, of my chent. The only way,
indeed, in which he can expect to have a just, fair, and impartial trial—free from
prejudice—at Westchester, is, that he should have an opportunity before this
community, ef showing what his pretensions have been, in order that it may be
seen whether they were not as much deserving of credit as of animadversion and
condemnation. If this individual is sent to the county of Westchester, with the
present prejudices against him, I conceive it hardly possible how he can have a
fair trial. I make these remarks, because there is a fortnicht intervening, and I
do not know of any instance in which there was a major offence to try, but where
no indictment had been found, or might be found, and where an indictment was
found, as in this case, for a minor offence, (though not tried) of keeping an indi-
dividual in close confinement for two terms. We ask the Court to go on and try
our client: we ask to punfy ourselves of the imputation made against us, before
we are sent to another tribunal, perhaps, to answer for our lives, and in doing this
we strongly appeal to the humanity and magnanimity ef the Court. We think,
your Honors, regarding the due and impartial administration of justice, even to the
vilest wretch that lives, or can be imagined, will grant this to us as a matter of
richt. Your Honor labours under a mistake (I speak of his being mdicted for
having represented himself to be God the Father,) it 1s not so. As I understand
it, no indictment has been made against him on that score. He 1s indicted for ha-
ving obtained money under false pretences. There is no indictment for blasphemy.

The Courr: We do not mean that. |

The District ArToRNEY : It 18 not, eo nomine, an indictment for blasphemy.

- The Courr: The indictment avers that he said he was God the Father—that
he was the Spirit of Truth—had power to doall things—to communicate the Holy

(Ghost, &c. Under those pretences he obtained a large sum of money. «Itis not
blasphemy that he is indicted for, but the obtaining of money under false pretences.

Mg. Western: With due submission, and that point being corrected—I asked
the Court to give a decision. It was not a question of expediency-——not a question
as to whether or not we should go to trial; but a decision as to this—whether
upon the matters set forth in the indictment, 1t could be maintained.—"T'he District
Attorney, with his usual candor, and much ability, has presented his views on the
subject to the Court. 1 presume there 18 no lawyer at the bar who differs in
opinion with that gentleman. The only questions for your Honors to decide is—
Can the indictment be maintained ? and whether you will be supporting the law of
the land by keeping the accused in custody, and without granting him a trial in
this case, so necessary and important to clear away the existing prejudice against
him, so that he may have a fair and impartial trial elsewhere. Y our Honors have
not said whether it is a good or bad indictment—whether it 1s well or i}l founded.
If you mean to say that it is a good indictment-——then we ask you to put us on our
trial, and assign us to-morrow for that purpose. Weask itas a matter of common
right, to which every criminal—every individual, having been imprisoned two
terms (as this man has) is entitled. We demand to be put upon trial to the end
that justice may be done us. We ask whether it 1s a good, or bad indictment ?
If it 13 a bad indictment, we ask the Court to acquit him, and pass him to West-
chester, in order that we may ask there, what we have asked here—a fair irial
If you say, on the other hand, that it is a good indictment, then we have a right
to ask that we may be put on trial here, to the end, as I have before stated, that
we may go free from prejudice to an adjoining county, where justice will be done.
I am sure in making this appeal to the Court, I make only an appeal to the laws
of the land, in defence of the rights of my client—rights, which I fee] agsured
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your Honors are not at all disposed to trifle with, and lichtly disregard. The
accused has a right to one of two things—either to be tried, that justice may not
be deluded, or be discharged. But, if your Honors mean to say it is a good
indictment—try him to-morrow morning. If, however, you assert that it is 4 bad
indictment, as most certainly it is—even if he were tried here, this Court, or the
Superior Court, would quash it. Now, this being the state of things, I would
~ask your Honors, in order that no prejudice—no unjust imputation shall hereafter
be alleged against him in regard to his pretensions and real character, that he be
tried before being sent to Westchester county. 'T'his is all we request.

Mr. N. N. Havur said, the warrant from Westchester had laid in the Upper
Police Office as long es the present warrant by which Matthias had been ar-.
raigned here. With due respect to the Court, he could not avoid stating that he
could see no reason why the affidavit of a female expressing her suspicions should
have been read, as the impressions they were calculated to make, by going
before the public, would be injurious to him where he was not arraigned. We
asked for a decision of the question—whether he can, or cannot, be tried on this
indictment. The Court said they would take time to consider on the subject,
and would give judgment on Monday. Tuesday had now arrived, and they
were not inclined to give an opinion. He asked, according to the laws of the
land—as Counsel for the accused—whether the Court were not bound to dis-
charge him on this indictment, if they refused to grant him a trial? His (Mr.
Hall's) associate (Mr. Western) had demanded a trial to-morrow. They were
prepared, for they had an abundance of testimony to rebut the charge of * false
pretences”’ alleged to have heen used by Matthias in order to obtain the money,
and showing that a contract was made, and that, like all other contracts. He
asked the Court, in behalf of the prisoner, that the excitement which was at
present raised against him might not be increased by any act of its own, as 1t
might operate in a sister county, with all the prejudices of the people there, per-
haps to his utter destruction. He (Mr. HaLr) requested that a day might be
assigned for his trial, or, that a motion be made at the end of the term for his
discharge.

OPINION OF THE COURT.

The Courrt said, they were unanimous in their views, and the decision they
were about to make would be according to law. There were two grounds
assumed by the Counsel for trying the accused; I'irst, that the Court ought to
pronounce whether the indictment was good or bad. Second, there ought to be a
trial in order to remove the existing prejudice against Matthias, which might in.
fluence the jury at Westchester.

First, as to the Court being called upon to decide whether this'was a good or
bad indictment. Whenever it was alleged an indictment was bad, there were
two ways in which the Court was called upon to do its judicial duty in regard to
declaring whether an indictment was good or bad. 'The first was, where i1t was
very obviously bad ; then the Counsel for the accused might address the Court,
and regularly move to have the indictment quashed. The Court were then com-
pelled (speaking judicially of its duty) to decide whether it was their duty to
acquiesce in the motion. Such. motion had been made by the District Attorney,
on the ground that the matter was not clearly indictable.

There was another way in which an indictment might be got rid of, and that
was, when on its face it was changed and of a questionable character; the Counsel
might then demur, and compel the Court, unaided by a jury, to say whether the
indictment was good or bad. A demurrer, as every lawyer knew, admitted the
facts stated in the indictment, and in that case, if the Counsel were sure the law
was with them, they might compel the Court to decide whether the indictment
could be sustained. DBut the Counsel for the prisoner had put it out of the
power of the Court to say whether the indictment was bad, by pleading the
‘“ general issue ;7 and the District Attorney had moved to enter a nolle prosequ.
The Court concurred that, in the present state ef things, they must proceed to
try the accused, or must have some reason for not trying him, or he would be dis-
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charged at the end of the term. IHe was not held in prison under this indict-
ment, but under that at Westchester county ; and the Court was as much bound
as the police magistrate for the safety of his person. Would not the authorities
at Westchester have reason to complain if the Court did not take care of him?
T he Court could not pronounce the indictment bad ; the only way to do that was
after a jury had convicted, then, in that manner, it might be overtaurned.

Now, as to the prejudices—The Counsel had said they wanted a trial in order
that they might be removed, if there were prejudices existing; and it was to be
hoped that they who tried the accused would do so, as free as possible from
them. Would it be’gracious in that Court to say, that a grand and petit jury
would yield themselves to any unworthy prejudices? Would itbe becoming in
a Court to state that one reason why the minor offence should be tried first, when
there was a greater offence, was, because they were apprehensive that the petit
jury might be prejudiced ? acting as they were under the solemnity of their oaths ?
For his, (the Recorder’s) own part, and he could answer for the whole bench—
they wished it to be distinctly understood, that they put the most implicit confi-
dencein the grand and petit jury. The Court begged it might be recollected, that
they were anxious to be understood distinctly j that they entertained the opinion
that the same fair and impartial justice which would be dealt out here would be
dealt out at Westchester. | |

Mr. N. N. Haww said, he understood His Honor to say, that where there was
no further demand made, according to the Revised Statutes, the prisoner’s
Counsel had a right to move for his discharge at the end of the term. That he,
(Mr. Hall)) took to be the law of the land.

Mr. WesTERN asked, would the Court permit him to inquire whether one
branch of this matter had not escaped the recollection of His Honor? His Honor
intimated that the question—whether it was a good or a bad indictment, was
not presented to the Court. His Honor enumerated the diflerent modes in
which the prisoner’s Counsel could present that question. But it seemed to him,
(Mr. Western,) that His Honor had lost sight of the real way in which it ought to
be presented. 'There was a third way in which it had come up in this discussion.
The District Attorney had a right to give his legal opinion on the matter, in the
impartial and independent discharge of his duty, as he ‘had done; but, as a prose-
cutor for the virtuous and good, he, (Mr. Western,) would ask his Honor, whether
under the circumstances, (that it was not a bad indictment)—though he did
present the question for the Court to decide ; was not the question presented to
them by the District Attorney 7 Was it not clearly presented to the Court by that
- gentleman that the indictment was illegal, invalid, improper? His Honor ought

not, ex necessitale rei, to enter a nolle prosequi. If he, (Mr. Western,) understood
the object the District Attorney had in view, it was a correct and intelligible one.
Now the question was put—whether it was a good indictment or not? No
question came from their side ; why should there be, when the other side allowed
that it was a bad indictment, when the District Attorney conceded the very
ground 7 Surely, therefore, if their Honors pleased, this Court had the question
presented, valid or invalid, legal or illegal, it could not be more {uilly—more
properly or fairly placed before them for their decision; and he regretted the
Court seemed carefully to avoid that point. He had a right to demand for
the accused as an American citizen, as a father of a family and a husband, full
and ample protection. A man was, and ought always to be, presumed inno-
cent until convicted, He (Mr. Western) had a right to claim His Honor’s pro-
tection on his behalf, which ought always 1o be extended to men in the same
unfortunate situation. A part of his duty was to protect him, and likewise to de-
cide fairly the question put by the District Attorney, who had said, “ I am too
proud—too honest—too upright, to put a man on trial, when I find no substance
for the offence. I am unwilling to put him on trial; I am not inclined to place
him on his defence, when I know the result of all this must be his acquittal ” Now,
if their Ilonors pleased, this was the question: he (Matthias) had a right to de-
mand a decision—he did demand it~—and he (Mr. Western) appealéd to the
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Court not to allow of any temporizing—not to be swayed by the etiquette of the
county of Westchester, whether er not the question would entangle it—nor be
guided by any other considerations than those of a grand and elevated character,
which he had always found to sway their Honors. He trusted they would look
to this question on its true, isolated, and distinct merits. What was the case? .
Here was an indictment confessedly bad ; here was the Distriet Aitorney conce-
ding that it was illegal ; here was the District Attorney asking the Court to
decide whether it was a good or bad indictment. "T'he Court, instead of answer-
ing the District Attorney, turned round and said, “ We entangle the sister coun-
ty.”! Fle (Mr. Western) would say that they had a right to moeve, at the end of
the term, for the discharge of the accused. If their Honorspleased, he would ask
them to decide, according to law, whether this was or was not a good indictment,
That was the only question presented by the District Attorney for the considera-
tion of the Court. If there was a requisition from Westchester for the accused,
iu God’s name send him there ; he would find protection there as well 2s here
he was ' not in greater danger there than here. In mentioning that there was
much excitement against the accused, he did not mean to say it was a legal ob-
jection. He merely stated it as a thing which all men knew was natural to the
human passions. le mentioned it as a matter which their Hoaors knew pre-
vailed among the religious community. - If the pretensions which were laid to his
charge were justly laid, he (Mr. Western) would ask what kind of feeling—what
sort of views that portion of the people would entertain in regard to his client—
whether they would not think annihilation to be his due? He (Mr. W.)

imagined they would think they were meting out to him unbounded justice !

The learned Counsel, in conclusion, observed that the question had not been answered, and he had
a right to ask their Elonors (on the appiication of the District Attorney) whether it wasa good or bad
indictment? If bad, then the accused was entitled to his discharge, but if it were a good one, he had a
right 1o a trial at the earliest convenience of the Court. | |
= The DISTRICT ATTORNEY rose, not with a view of throwing light on the subject, but
merely to say that terms had been used by the Court and Counsel implying a different meaning to the
language he had used. 'T'he indictment was as good a one as could be drawn under the circumstances ;
it was framed by him with care; and the question was not whether the indictment was good, bui
whether the matter ofit was indictable. 1f this was not decided, then, of eourse, the indictmen® could
not be sustained, and it was that question which was submitted to the Court.

He would now beg to correct a little error into which the learned Counsel seemed to have fallen—
that the Grand Jury had found a bill against his wish., W hen the compiaint was laid before tho
Grand Jury, he (the District Attorney) expressed strong doubts to them whether any indictment could
be sustained. He was of opinion there could not ; but it was the opinion of one man, liable to error,
Notwithstanding his doubt, he drew a bill from necessity, and as perfeet a one as his abilities would
allow him, but before proceeding to trial he thought he would submit it to the judgment of the Court,
and upon that judgment act.

The Recurdjer said there could be no doubt as to the true courseof the law. Ifthey meant to have
the opinion of the Court before the case was put tothe jury, they had a choice of two things, one
was a motion to quash the indictment—the other, a demurrer.

MR, WESTERN : But has not the District Attorney taken the proper course 7——

The COURT : Whenever this case comes on to be tried, you will have a perfect right to call for
the opinion of the Court. [t will then have to lay down the two following rules, the first s, to tell the
jury that, according to well settled principles of law, the pretences used must be such as would deceive
a man of ordinary prudence. Now, whether a man of common sense would have been deceived, or
not, is not a question ﬁgr the Court. The secongl,is, that they must not convict this man, uniess the
pretences used wovld impose upon a man of ordinary prudence ; yet it is a question of fact, which we
cannot take froma jury, whether the pretences did not deceive us. | ’

. WESTERN : [ would put the point of the case on this—that the District Attorney has a
rig%l; to rise in his place, and ask the Court whether this be a goed or a bad indictment, and if the latter,
move to entera nolle prosequi. The District Attorney has already done that; and left it for your
Hanors to decide, Iadmit the other two modes. Now, if your Honors mean to say that he had no right to make the
application—that 1 had a right to ovetiule him—then you decide against the District Attorney, But [ask you, if you
fntend so to decide, to state it distinetly, 1f the Court decide thus, we have a remedy, But we have a decided dispo-
gition notto be forced to take that course- I ask the Couitto view 1t in this isolated lizht: the District Attorney ises
in hisplace, and asks the Court to d:cide whether the indictment _bH good or bad, to the end thata nolle prosequa be
entered.—[Mr. N. N. HALL said, it was formerly the caze that the District Attornev had the power to entera nolle prose-
qui. By the Revised Statutes, however, itis now left to the Court —[The RECORDER explained, that the prosecutor
had a right to enter a nolle prosequi; but the Court was not boiind to do go.

Mr. WESTERN : Your Honor fallg short of the mark. 'I'he first propesition is—is it a bad or good ind ictment ?

The COURT :, The Court have very cleatly before decided. "I'he power of the District Allorney has been abridfed,
and now a nolle prosequi must be entered by the permission of the Court. Now, the Court are perfectly clear that
they might advise a nolle prosegui, and are equally certain that they are not bound te give advice. And it is quite
clear to all,that we are not bound to giveit, But if the parties goto trial, they may carry the case up to the Court of
Frrors. Now, which isthe wiser mode ? Suppose we have decided,orlet it go to a jury, and penmnit them to decide
on the question of facts : if it be not indictab'e, you then move the Court and compel it to give judgment.  T'he rule of
law . was founded in gieat wisdom. W hat would not ilupose upon a man of sound understanding, might impose upon
a very silly man; aadshou'd the defiauder, on that acconut, be permitted to escape punishmenti., Lhe Cowt are of
opinion that this man should be given (o the Connty of Wesichester. | -

MATTHIAS will be sent forthwith to Westchester, there to await his Trial at the next Sessions for that county.)

'he Court was crowded long before the Recorder took his seat, by those who were curious to get a glimpse of the
Prophet.and g great many were women. He was splendidly dressed. He had onaclaret colored coat, green panta-.
ipons, and yellow vest. ‘T'he coat was decorated on each side the breast with seven silver stars of gmal! size, with

=0 larger ones—ene on each side. }{s mruch-W-be-pitied wife was in Court among the spectators.
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